
Mark Saccoccio 
Town Clerk 

  01525 631920
   info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk

www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk

Council Chamber, The White House, Hockcliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, LU7 1HD.

Friday, 7 September 2018

To:  Members of the Policy & Finance Committee (Councillors E Wallace, S Jones, 
R Berry, S Cotter, K Cursons, S Ward, A Dodwell, K Ferguson, M Freeman, 
F Kharawala, C Palmer and G Perham)
(Copies to all Town Councillors for information)

NOTICE OF MEETING

You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of Policy & Finance Committee to be 
held on Monday, 17 September 2018 commencing at 7.30 pm in the Council Chamber, 
The White House, Hockcliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, 
LU7 1HD.. 

M Saccoccio 
Town Clerk

AGENDA

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Schedule 12 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires a record be kept of 
the Members present and that this record form part of the minutes of the 
meeting. Members who cannot attend a meeting should tender apologies to 
the Town Clerk.

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

i) Under the Localism Act 2011 (sections 26-37 and Schedule 4) and in 
accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct, Members are required to 
declare any interests which are not currently entered in the Member’s 
Register of Interests or if he/she has not notified the Monitoring Officer of 
it. 

(ii) Should any Member have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in an item on 
the agenda, the Member may not participate in consideration of that item 
unless a Dispensation has first been requested (in writing) and granted 
by the Council (see Dispensation Procedure).

3.  QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC (3 MINUTES PER PERSON; MAXIMUM 
15 MINUTES) 

To receive questions and statements from members of the public in respect 
of any item of business included in the agenda, as provided for in Standing 

THIS MEETING MAY 
BE RECORDED *

Public Document Pack

mailto:info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk
http://www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk/


POLICY & FINANCE COMMITTEE Monday, 17 September 2018

Order No.s 1(f) and 1(h).

4.  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 8)

To receive and approve as a correct record the minutes of the Policy & 
Finance Committee meeting held on 30 July 2018

5.  COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORK PLAN (Pages 9 - 12)

To receive and note progress with the Committee objectives and work plan 
for 2018-2019 (attached).

6.  RECOMMENDATIONS (Pages 13 - 22)

To consider the following recommendations:

(i) From the Market Sub-Committee of 16 August 2018 in respect of 
re-profiling the market budget. 

(ii) From the Grounds & Environmental Services Committee of 10 
September 2018 in respect of a draft policy for Unauthorised 
Encampment Management.

7.  JULY PAYMENTS (Pages 23 - 48)

To receive and note the schedule of payments made in July 2018 (attached) 
(approved for payment by the Town Clerk and two bank signatories).

8.  COMMUNICATIONS UPDATE (Pages 49 - 64)

To receive and note a communications update report (attached).

9.  RISK REGISTER ACTION PLAN UPDATE (Pages 65 - 68)

To receive and note an update report regarding the 2018-19 Risk Register 
Action Plan.

10.  EXTERNAL AUDITOR'S REPORT 2017-2018 

To receive and consider the external Auditor’s report for 2017-2018 (if 
received).

11.  MOD.GOV - REVIEW OF FIRST THREE MONTHS 

To receive and note a brief verbal update regarding Mod.gov meetings 
management software.

12.  CENTRAL SERVICES BUDGETS (Pages 69 - 72)



POLICY & FINANCE COMMITTEE Monday, 17 September 2018

To receive a report regarding Central Services budgets and to consider the 
recommendation/s contained therein.

13.  STANDING ORDERS (Pages 73 - 76)

To receive a report regarding Standing Orders and to consider the 
recommendation/s contained therein.

(a)  COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY (Pages 77 - 92)

To receive a report regarding the Community Engagement Strategy 
(attached) and to consider the recommendation/s contained therein. 

14.  EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 

The Committee may consider it appropriate to consider the following 
resolution should they consider that any discussion would be prejudicial to 
the public interests: that, under the Public Bodies (Admissions to Meetings) 
Act 1960, the public be excluded on the grounds of the confidential nature of 
the business about to be transacted which involves the likely disclosure of 
exempt information. The public and press to withdraw from the meeting 
during consideration of detailed discussion regarding:

i. Telecomms Provider
ii. Professional fees (attached)

15.  TELECOMMS PROVIDER (Pages 93 - 94)

16.  PROFESSIONAL FEES (Pages 95 - 106)

* Phones and other equipment may be used to film, audio record, tweet or blog from this meeting by an individual Council member, 
officer or member of the public.  No part of the meeting room is exempt from public filming unless the meeting resolves to go into 
exempt session.  The use of images or recordings arising from this is not within the Council’s control.



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 150

LEIGHTON–LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL

MINUTES OF POLICY & FINANCE COMMITTEE

MONDAY, 30 JULY 2018 AT 7.30 PM

Present:   Councillors E Wallace (Chair)
S Jones (Vice-Chair)
R Berry
S Cotter
K Cursons
S Ward
M Freeman
C Palmer
G Perham

Also in attendance: M Saccoccio, Town Clerk
C Cummins, Finance Officer
S Sandiford, Head of Democratic and Central 
Services

Members of the public: 1 (part meeting)

376/PF APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors A Dodwell, K 
Ferguson and F Kharawala.

377/PF DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those 
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this 
meeting. 

Councillor C Palmer declared a personal interest in agenda item 9 
(Payments) as the list of payments included a payment relating to Leighton-
Linslade in Bloom, of which his wife was a committee member.

Councillors C Palmer and G Perham declared a personal interest in agenda 
item 7 (Town Twinning) as members of/representatives to the Town Twinning 
Forum.

378/PF QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC (3 minutes per person; maximum 15 
minutes)

There were no questions from members of the public.

379/PF MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Policy & Finance Committee Meeting Monday, 30 July 2018

Page 151

The Committee received the minutes of the Policy and Finance Committee 
meeting held on 18 June 2018 for consideration.

RESOLVED that the minutes of the Policy and Finance Committee 
meeting held on 18 June 2018 be approved as a correct record and 
were signed accordingly.

380/PF MINUTES OF SUB-COMMITTEE MEETINGS

(a) The Committee received the draft minutes of the Personnel Sub-
Committee meeting held on 2 July 2018. It was noted that the 
recommendations would be considered later in the meeting as a separate 
agenda item. 

RESOLVED to receive the draft minutes of the Personnel Sub-
Committee meeting held on 2 July 2018.

(b) The Committee received the draft minutes of the Community Safety 
Sub-Committee meeting held on 16 July 2018.

Minute reference 07/CS:  the Committee considered the recommendation to 
endorse that the Town Council enter into a new Framework Agreement with 
Bedfordshire Police for the financial year 2018-2019. It was noted that 
without the framework agreement being in place, the Town Council would be 
unable to engage with the Police to the same extent and the Police would be 
unable to share as much information with the Council. The recommendation 
was in respect of the agreement itself rather than endorsing expenditure 
within the Operation Dodford framework. 

RESOLVED to receive the draft minutes of the Community Safety Sub-
Committee meeting held on 16 July 2018.

RESOLVED to endorse that the Town Council enter into a new 
framework agreement with Bedfordshire Police for the financial year 
2018-2019.

381/PF TERMS OF REFERENCE

The Committee received a report to consider amending the Terms of 
Reference for the Personnel Sub Committee to ensure they remained fit for 
purpose, following discussion at the Personnel Sub-Committee meeting held 
on 2 July 2018. The following proposed amendments to the existing Terms of 
Reference were given consideration:

1. Overview of staffing structure and staffing budget, ensuring that it is 
commensurate with objectives of the Council.
2. Review staff sickness absence at least once per year.
3. Review staff training and identify and agree training needs for the 
Town Clerk and other senior members of staff. To form a panel comprising 
three Councillors to undertake the Town Clerk’s annual performance 

Page 2



Policy & Finance Committee Meeting Monday, 30 July 2018

Page 152

appraisal, including target setting and identifying training needs. 
4. Ensure Council employees are working in a safe environment.
5. Produce Code of Conduct for staff.
6. Review all new and revised policies and procedures affecting 
employees and make recommendations to the Policy and Finance 
Committee.
7. Review Job Description and Statement of Main Terms and Conditions 
of Town Clerk.
8. Where appropriate, to consider matters relating to the Town Clerk’s 
employment including training, overtime, annual leave and sickness absence. 
Receive notification of the Town Clerk's annual leave and matters relating to 
overtime working and sickness.
9. Informally hear any grievances raised by the Town Clerk.
10. Informally advise the Town Clerk on any disciplinary matters.
11. Support the Town Clerk in succession planning for key senior staff 
who may wish to retire.
12. Recruitment and/or termination of contract for the Town Clerk and 
other senior members of staff.
13. To consider and where appropriate, approve proposed minor 
amendments in staffing structure, where proposed changes are within 
existing salary budgets and will not have any adverse impact upon existing 
employees. 
14. To monitor and make decisions regarding contracts & service level 
agreements relating to employment matters, where these are within existing 
budgets. 

RESOLVED to accept the proposed amendments to the Terms of 
Reference for the Personnel Sub-Committee as outlined above.

It was agreed that only changes which fell within the parameters of point 13 
above would have delegated authority but all other proposed staffing 
changes would continue to be recommended to the Policy and Finance 
Committee, or where appropriate to Council, for endorsement, in order to 
safeguard both individual employees and the Council as a corporate body.

382/PF TOWN TWINNING

The Committee received and considered a verbal update from Anne Guess, 
the Chair of the Town Twinning Forum regarding exploring the potential to 
twin with a town in Italy. The proposal had been put forward by a local 
employee and it was noted that forging twinning links brought many potential 
benefits to each town, including encouraging language learning and links with 
not only schools, clubs and organisations but possibly also with businesses.

The Twinning Forum had written to contacts in Italy and awaited a response. 
The Forum did not anticipate that an additional twinning agreement would 
require any additional funding, as the group was already undertaking 
voluntary fundraising to supplement their grant funding.

It was noted that any formal twinning agreement would need to be approved 

Page 3



Policy & Finance Committee Meeting Monday, 30 July 2018

Page 153

by the councils of both towns. 

The Committee thanked Anne Guess for attending the meeting and advised 
they would await a further update in due course.  

RESOLVED to note the information.

383/PF COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORK PLAN

The Committee received a report summarising the key responsibilities of the 
Committee, as well as the objectives within the Town Council’s Three Year 
Plan 2015-2018 which fell within the remit of the Committee.  It was noted 
that the budget setting process would shortly begin for 2019-2020. 

The Committee was advised that there was likely to be a delay in the 
development of a Community Emergency Plan due to ill health of a key 
volunteer.

RESOLVED to note the Committee Work Plan and Objectives for 2018-
2019.

384/PF JUNE 2018 PAYMENTS

The Committee received a schedule of payments which had previously been 
approved for payment by the Town Clerk and countersigned by two account 
signatories.          

The schedule for June, dated  26 June 2018,  included BACS payments 
amounting to £226,020.25 (page numbers 2369-2383) and cheque payments 
amounting to £4,697.70 (cheque numbers 17235-17257), including White 
House petty cash amounting to £144.94, Astral Park £154.68 and TACTIC 
£61.88.

The monthly salaries listing for June 2018 amounting to £101,019.64 gross 
was received.  A cash book report for June 2018, including details of all direct 
debit payments, was also received.

It was noted that all payments had been made within the budget and that 
there were no irregularities to be drawn to the attention of the Committee. 

A question was raised and answered regarding the annual budget for 
cleaning of the public conveniences.

The Committee noted the payments in respect of the Linslade Canal Festival 
and thanked all those involved in the event, which had been very successful 
and much enjoyed by members of the public.

It was suggested that for future payments reports, Members should email 
officers in advance with any queries relating to payments, in order that an 
answer could be given at the meeting. 

Page 4



Policy & Finance Committee Meeting Monday, 30 July 2018

Page 154

RESOLVED to note the schedule of accounts for June 2018.

385/PF THREE MONTH BUDGET MONITORING REPORT

The Committee received a budget monitoring report for the period April to 
June 2018. A query was raised regarding costs compared to budget for the 
market security barrier. It was noted that although £10,000 had been 
awarded in grant funding to the Friends of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom, only 
£7,500 had been received to date.

A question was raised regarding the phasing of payments and whether the 
report took this into account. It was suggested that for future budget 
monitoring reports, officers highlight any expenditure which was not in line 
with anticipated phasing. 

RESOLVED to note the report.

386/PF BUDGET PROCESS

The Committee received a report setting out the proposed timescale for the 
2018-2019 budget setting process.  

 
RESOLVED to note the proposed timetable for the 2018-2019 budget 
setting process.

387/PF ASSET REGISTER

The Committee received the asset register for consideration, including land 
and buildings, infrastructure assets, community assets and equipment.  It 
was noted that a process had been started of migrating the asset register 
information to different software, which would allow mapping and 
photographing of assets. This was a significant piece of work which would 
take some time to complete.

A question was raised regarding depreciation and it was agreed that answer 
would be provided after the meeting. 

RESOLVED to note the report.

388/PF INSURANCE CLAIMS 2017-2018

In accordance with its terms of reference, the Committee received a report 
outlining insurance claims for the period July 2017 – June 2018. 

RESOLVED to note the report regarding the Town Council insurance                 
policy and claims for 2017-18.

389/PF DATA PROTECTION UPDATE

Page 5



Policy & Finance Committee Meeting Monday, 30 July 2018

Page 155

The Committee received an update regarding Data Protection and was asked 
to consider recommending approval to Council of a Document Retention 
Policy, which had been developed in accordance with guidelines issued by 
the National Association of Local Councils and the Society of Local Council 
Clerks. 

RESOLVED to note the report.

RECOMMENDED to Council to approve the proposed Document 
Retention Policy.

390/PF EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

RESOLVED that, under the Public Bodies (Admissions to Meetings) Act 
1960, the public be excluded on the grounds of the confidential nature 
of the business about to be transacted which involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information.  The public and press to withdraw 
from the meeting during consideration of detailed discussion regarding 
consultation with residents on objectives, staffing matters and land 
east of Leighton-Linslade.

391/PF RESIDENT CONSULTATION ON TOWN COUNCIL OBJECTIVES

The Committee received and considered a report regarding the undertaking 
of a public consultation exercise in respect of future Town Council objectives. 
Following completion of the majority of objectives within the current three 
year plan 2015-2018, it was anticipated that a five year plan for 2019-2023 
would be developed alongside the relevant financial plans to support 
projects. 

In order to understand residents’ views and priorities, it was proposed that 
face-to-face consultation be undertaken during September/October at various 
locations within the town. Discussion took place regarding the different 
potential methods of consultation and the possibility of online consultation, 
but it was agreed that it was crucial to obtain feedback from a valid cross-
section of residents and that this could only be ensured through direct 
contact. In addition, it was recognised that there were many subtle 
complexities involved and a face to face conversation was the best way in 
which to be able to explain the different roles of the two councils and to 
ensure that views captured were relevant to the services the town council 
was able to provide.  

It was anticipated that 500 people would be interviewed and the results would 
be presented to Committee in November 2018.

Specific questions would be developed in consultation with the appointed 
professional consultant and would be circulated to Committee Chairs for 
consideration.

The view was expressed that the discussion ideas document was fairly 

Page 6



Policy & Finance Committee Meeting Monday, 30 July 2018

Page 156

detailed and it was hoped that consultation would be on broader themes to 
allow room to incorporate feedback from residents.

RESOLVED:
(i) to note the report.
(ii) To endorse the proposed draft Five Year Plan objectives.
(iii) To endorse, in principle, the broad-brush themes to support the 
public engagement exercise.
(iv) To appoint Consultant A (Howdo Research) to carry out the 
public engagement exercise within a £10,000 budget (Professional Fees 
earmarked reserve 9035/920).

392/PF STAFFING MATTERS

The Committee considered the recommendations made by the Personnel 
Sub-Committee on 2 July 2018 (Minute Reference 145/PR Staffing Matters). 
The first recommendation was in respect of the Cultural and Economic 
Services team. 

RESOLVED to:
(i) Approve the restructure in the Cultural and Economic Services 
team, as proposed to the Personnel Sub-Committee on 8 January 2018.
(ii) To approve a voluntary redundancy application to the sum equal 
to contractual entitlement by the individual concerned. 

The second recommendation was in respect of the Grounds and 
Environmental Services team.

RESOLVED:
(i) To endorse the contractual entitlement to the individual 
concerned.
(ii) To provide an agreed-form reference to any prospective 
employers.
(iii) That a contribution be made to meet legal costs as well as 
meeting the costs of creation of a settlement agreement.

393/PF LAND EAST OF LEIGHTON LINSLADE

The Committee received a verbal update regarding housing development on 
land east of Leighton-Linslade.

The Committee agreed that in principle, it held no objections to working 
collaboratively with Central Bedfordshire Council and the developer 
consortium in the successful delivery of the Leighton-Linslade Urban 
Extension.

RESOLVED:

(i) To request the Town Clerk to write to Central Bedfordshire 
Council (officers and councillors) to confirm the above.

Page 7



Policy & Finance Committee Meeting Monday, 30 July 2018

Page 157

(ii) To consider representation/attendance at the Central 
Bedfordshire General Purposes Committee meeting to be held on 23 
August 2018.

The meeting closed at 9.01 pm. 

I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A CORRECT AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON MONDAY, 30 JULY 2018. 

Chair                          17 SEPTEMBER 2018   

Page 8



Page 1 of 3

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL
POLICY AND FINANCE COMMITTEE – 17 SEPTEMBER 2018

WORK PLAN 2018-2019 (INCORPORATING OBJECTIVES 2015-2018)

Policy & Finance Strategic Objectives for 2015-2018 (from Town Council Three Year Plan)

Objective 
ref.no. (3 
Yr Plan)

Objective Timescale Comments

1 Review options related to the future premises to house 
the Town Council and secure accommodation. 

31st March 2017 Depot Accommodation:- Short terms strategy 
agreed
Negotiations ongoing in respects of Town Council 
accommodation.   

8 Investigate and develop online payments and bookings 
for all Council services.

Payments – 31st March 
2017

Town Council is accepting online payments via 
WorldPay.
Agreed that online bookings are not currently a 
viable option but intention is to trial online 
ticketing.   

15 Expand and consolidate opportunities for two-way 
dialogue with residents and ensure greater community 
engagement in, and awareness of, Town Council 
activity.

Annual & ongoing Website revisions, About Town delivered in July to 
all households, increased social media presence 
(number of posts and number of followers). 
Development of promotional short videos.

15 (a) Creation and adoption of website development plan January 2018
Deferred until 2018-19

Websites to be reviewed in full during 2018-19, 
following appointment of a support provider. 
Proposals for future development to be brought to 
committee before end of 2018. 

15 (b) Creation and adoption of communications strategy November 2017 Nov 2017 update: now split into two documents, 
an internal Communications protocol and an 
external Community Engagement/Consultation 
Strategy. Consultation held on draft revised 
Engagement Strategy – recommended for 
approval.

Policies: review/update/develop Home working 
protocol, Business continuity plans for Astral Park and 
TACTIC, Community Emergency Plan

April 2018
Home working protocol established Oct 2017.
Business continuity plans updated for 2018.
Awaiting input from external volunteer consultant 
in respect of Emergency Plan. 

Data Protection: review procedures and amend as 
required to comply with General Data Protection April 2018 

Significant progress made incl staff training, 
review of IT security, development of policies and 

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 5



Page 2 of 3

Regulations (effective May 2018) procedures. DPO audit scheduled for 4 
September.

I.T. infrastructure: develop clear timescales for 
hardware & software upgrades, server replacement, 
review of storage and network arrangements

September 2018
New server installed, back up solution under 
review, new hardware ordered, network switches 
upgraded.  Email move to Office 365 completed 
and enhanced to include 21 x Cllr email 
addresses. Old server has been decommissioned.

Budget process for 2019-20 January 2019  Underway. 
Community safety: review effectiveness of current 
expenditure and options for alternative measures

January 2019 Through the Community Safety Sub Committee

 Objectives 2,3,4,5,6,17 & 23 from Three Year Plan completed and removed from work plan. 

WORK PLAN 2018-2019

Meeting Date Regular Updates Work Plan 2018-2019
18 June 2018 Town Mayor’s Accounts 2017-2018

Annual accounts and governance statement
Revised Community Engagement Strategy

30 July 2018 3-month budget 
monitoring

Approval of budget timeline for 2019-20 budget 
Insurance claims 2017-18
Data protection update
Asset register

17 September 2018 Communications 
update

Review priority projects for inclusion in 2019-20 budget
External auditor’s report for 2017-18
Business Risk action plan update
Modern.gov: review of first three months
Community Emergency Plan deferred due to ill health of co-ordinator
Standing Orders review
Community Engagement Strategy

19 November 2018 6-month budget 
monitoring
5 year financial plan

Review priority projects for inclusion in 2019-2020 budget
Review of salary budget for 2019-20
Website development plan and hosting/support provider review
I.T. review and budget recommendations

21 January 2019 9-month budget 
monitoring

Recommend to Council the budget and precept for 2019-2020 
Consider Honorary Burgess 2019 nomination/s

P
age 10



Page 3 of 3

Business Risk Register & Action Plan for 2019-2020
Recommendations from Police Liaison in respect of Community Safety 

25 February 2019 Communications 
update

Draft Calendar of Meetings 2019-2020
Review Town Council/employee memberships
Annual review of Financial regulations, Standing Orders and System of internal control
Modern.gov review

15 April 2019

 

12-month budget 
monitoring report

Annual Report 2018-2019
Review of Committee Objectives 2018-19; Setting provisional Committee Objectives 2019-
2020
Review arrangements with local authorities.

P
age 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 12



Page 13

Agenda Item 6



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23

Agenda Item 7



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Policy and Finance Committee 

Date: 17 September 2018

Title: Communications Update 

Purpose of the Report: To update Members in respect of Town 
Council Communications.

Contact Officer: Amy Holden, Senior Administration Officer

Corporate 
Objective/s

Leighton-Linslade Town Council Three Year Plan: 
Objective 15: to expand and consolidate opportunities for 
two-way dialogue with residents and ensure greater 
community engagement in, and awareness of, Town 
Council activity. 

Implications:
Human Resources X None 
Operational/Service 
delivery

X None 

Procedural/Legal X None 
Financial X None 

1. RECOMMENDATION/S

Should members be minded, the proposals are:

1.1 To note the report.

2. CONTEXT

2.1 As a publicly funded body, Leighton-Linslade Town Council has a duty to 
actively engage with the local community, providing information regarding 
its activities and proposed future projects, seeking feedback from 
residents and raising awareness of the Council and its remit within the 
Parish.

2.2 Historically, community engagement has taken place through a variety of 
forums including a printed newsletter, public consultation exercises, a 
website and community events. 

2.3 More recently, following the rapid developments in technology and the 
advent of the Localism Agenda and e-Government, the Town Council has 
moved further towards electronic media, communicating with residents 
through channels including LLTC Website, Facebook, Twitter, Mailchimp, 
Survey Monkey, YouTube and its own app. 

Page 49

Agenda Item 8



3. COMMUNICATIONS UPDATE

3.1 To ensure we have a clear direction and to help improve efficiency a 
communications work plan has been created (see below) and will be 
included in all future communications update reports. Overall, it is clear 
that a multi-faceted approach is needed and that the range of tools we use 
for communication is continuing to expand. 

3.2 Website: We have been with our new website support provider since 
February 2018. It was decided at the time of signing the contract that there 
would be a settling in period to allow time for the websites to move to the 
new providers servers and for the new provider to familiarise themselves 
with site set ups.

Some agreed projects have been completed with include updating forms 
to adhere to GDPR compliance, redesign of events landing page and each 
induvial event page. 

Development plans for all four websites have been drafted and are being 
worked through between Officers and our website provider. 

3.3 App: the LLTC app now has 248 active downloads and continues to be 
promoted via About Town and social media, as well as a dedicated panel 
on the homepage of the main LLTC website.

3.4 Electronic signage: The first out of the four electronic signs was installed 
in April 2018 at Leighton Buzzard Train stations. Content messages are 
being scheduled alongside our main digital content planner.

3.5 KPI’S/Analytics: It had been our intention to create a data dashboard 
within Google analytics which allows monthly reports to be submitted 
straight to us. This is now in place and the second monthly reports have 
been received. This is a great tool to allow us to better understand users’ 
habits, how they are reaching us and where they are coming from. 
Example reports for August 2018 are attached for your perusal. 

3.6 Branding: LLTC branding guidelines were established in 2015 but are 
now in the process of being updated to incorporate all the new branding 
developed since that time, including Astral Park, TACTIC, the community 
events, children’s trail and street market branding. This will ensure that 
any parties promoting these assets will utilise the correct fonts, colours 
and branding messages in all marketing activity.  

3.7 Internal Processes: As well as use of a digital content planner, an internal 
communications process is being worked on. This will provide a clear 
method for officers to follow to ensure key messages are getting out there 
in a pre-planned, organised manner. 

Page 50



It will ensure each team is working simultaneously to improve project 
communication lead times.

4. SOCIAL MEDIA UPDATE AND SUCCESSES 

4.1 Instagram: The main LLTC Instagram now has 252 followers. A 
dedicated LB Market Instagram account was launched in August this year 
and currently has 154 followers. Consideration is being given to launching 
a dedicated Instagram profile for TACTIC.

4.2 Social media Campaigns: Our planned social media campaigns continue 
to grow and improve. This year’s Canal Festival Facebook event reached 
over 100,000 people alone with 2,500 people directly 
engaging/responding with the event. 

4.3 Content Planning: On average 30 posts are pre-planned and scheduled 
across 11 profiles (Facebook, Twitter and Instagram) this is excluding 
sharing, liking and commenting on partner organisation profiles. 

4.4 KPI’s: Previously only the main LLTC social media profiles have had KPI 
goals attached, however we have now extended this to cover all Council 
owned profiles. 

 

Page 51



COMMUNICATIONS WORK PLAN 

Projects Objective Update Next steps
LLTC Website 
www.leightonlinslade-
tc.gov.uk 

Continued development of the 
LLTC website, aspirations to 
include online payments and 
creation of a style guide. 

Improvements were made to 
the events section of the 
website in may this year. The 
changes have been well 
received and have the set the 
tone we wish to roll out across 
the rest of the site.

We are currently reviewing 
all live pages of the website 
with a view to update 
aspects of content and 
design. 

We would like to add 
features such as a calendar 
and live interactive forms for 
venue hire and event trader 
registration. 

Market Website 
www.leightonbuzzardmarket
.co.uk) 

The market website was launched 
in September 2017 as part of the 
market relaunch project.

The trader section of the 
website has been developed 
and now includes an ‘apply’ 
page which includes all 
documents needed by a 
potential new trader. The 
page also includes an online 
contact us form. 

The next steps on the 
development plan include 
creating a dedicated ‘traders’ 
page which will include 
details on all traders: what 
they sell, links to their 
website and social media 
profiles.

We are also in the process 
of changing the website 
layout to include a new ‘Our 
Markets’ page which we 
believe will provide users a 
clearer route to explore our 
speciality markets. 

P
age 52

http://www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk/
http://www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk/
http://www.leightonbuzzardmarket.co.uk/
http://www.leightonbuzzardmarket.co.uk/


Astral Park Website  
www.astralpark.co.uk 

To better reflect Astral Park’s 
branding, provide key information 
for those searching online for a 
facility to host their activity, event, 
meeting or function.

Since the site launched there 
has not been many changes. 
Officers feel with some 
updates to images and 
information the Centre could 
be much better represented. 

A briefing meeting has been 
held and a wish list drawn 
up.

Initial discussions have 
taken place with our website 
provider. 

TACTIC Website  
www.tactic-centre.co.uk 

TACTIC’s website was launched at 
the same time as the main LLTC 
website. It was decided a separate 
website should be created as the 
target audience is of a younger 
age.

Since the site launched there 
haven’t been any design or 
function changes. The design 
is in desperate need of 
updating and the information 
provided could be hugely 
improved. 

A briefing meeting has been 
held and a wish list drawn 
up. 

Initial discussions have 
taken place with our website 
provider. 

Google Analytics 
Dashboard 

To create a personalised 
dashboard on our Google Analytics 
account to help monitor visitor and 
download stats.

The data dashboard has now 
been implemented and 
monthly reports are received 
containing all planned KPI’s.

Continue to monitor KPIs, 
add make changes to our 
communications dependent 
on results.

Town Council App To provide key information in a 
mobile friendly, easy to use format, 
including being able to send our 
subscribers ‘Push Notifications’ 
(instant alerts).

We have 240 active users. 
The app now has a dedicated 
strip on the LLTC website 
homepage.

Continue to build followers 
by promoting the app via 
social media and LLTC 
website and use the push 
notifications more. 

Communication strategy Due to the progression in the use of 
digital communication tools we feel 
now is the time to consider 

After some consideration it 
was decided that the strategy 
would work better as two 

The draft Community 
Engagement Strategy is 
recommended for approval. 

P
age 53

http://www.astralpark.co.uk/
http://www.tactic-centre.co.uk/


introducing a communications 
strategy. 

This will ensure we have a clear 
direction and processes for staff 
members to follow to ensure all 
departments are working towards 
the same goal.

documents: A community 
engagement strategy and an 
in-house communications 
process to be followed by 
officers.

The In-house 
communications process is 
under development. 

P
age 54



COMMUNICATIONS WORK PLAN 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Policy and Finance Committee

Date:  17 September 2018

Title:  Risk Register action plan update

Purpose of the Report: To provide the Committee with a mid-
year update on the risk register action 
plan for 2018-2019.

Contact Officer: Sarah Sandiford, Head of Democratic 
and Central Services

Corporate Objective/s LLTC Three Year Plan – Aim 1: 

Implications:
Financial √ Within existing budget
Human Resources
Operational/Service 
delivery
Procedural/Legal
Risk/Health and Safety

1. RECOMMENDATION/S

Should members be minded, the proposals are:

1.1 To note the report.  

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 As the Committee is aware, there is an ongoing, annual requirement for the 
Council to review its Risk Register. Following Committee review, the Risk 
Register and Action Plan requires approval by Council. 

2.2 The Town Council has used for many years the specific software LCRS (Local 
Council Risk System). The system is pre-loaded with more than 390 risks and 
1100 controls across a spectrum of services areas, for local councils to select 
those which apply to them and assess the potential risk for each element.  

2.3 At its meeting held on 15 January 2018, the Committee received the full Risk 
Register report and Action Plan for 2018-2019. This was subsequently 
endorsed by Council on 29 January 2018.

Page 65

Agenda Item 9



 

2.4 The Risk Register Action Plan for 2018-2019 contained five main action areas:

2.4.1 Council Property and Documents –data mapping being done in 2018 
to comply with new data protection regulations.

2.4.2 Data Protection – potential for data/security breaches – under review 
to comply with new data protection regulations.

2.4.3 Employment of Staff – ensure procedures for key functions are 
documented.

2.4.4 Land – maintenance of asset register and development of a planned 
maintenance programme for all fences, hedges, gates, footpaths etc under 
LLTC ownership.

2.4.5 Websites – ownership of URLs, visibility of visitor numbers, 
management of websites, compliance with data protection regulations.  

 
3. UPDATE

3.1 As the Committee is aware, a significant amount of work has been done in 
respect of the General Data Protection Regulation and new Data Protection 
Act. A number of policies have been developed or updated, including a 
Document Retention Policy which will guide us in document management going 
forward.

3.2 Work continues across all departments to ensure procedural documentation is 
up to date and fit for purpose, particularly where procedures have undergone 
significant change, for example in the production of meeting agendas. 

3.3 Work is underway to move the asset register to the new Pear Technology 
software, which allows much greater detail to be captured and photographs 
added. This is a significant project which will take several months to complete. 

3.4 As approved by Committee earlier this year, the Town Council’s four websites 
are now being hosted and supported by a specialist provider. As part of the 
migration process, any anomalies with ownership have been addressed and 
work has been completed to ensure compliance with data protection 
regulations. The new technical and content management support arrangement 
is proving extremely valuable in ensuring resources are in place to support the 
ongoing management of all websites.  

4. CONCLUSIONS

4.1 All service areas are aware of the risk register action plan and work is 
underway to ensure compliance in terms of data protection, document 
management and procedural documentation.

Page 66



 

4.2 The risk register will be subject to its annual review during November 2018. 

4.3 The updated risk register and action plan for 2019-20 will be presented to 
Committee at its meeting in January 2019.

End. 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 68



Policy and Finance Committee

Date:  17 September 2018

Title:  Central Services budget lines

Purpose of the Report: To seek Committee approval for 
proposed adjustments in Central 
Services budget lines

Contact Officer: Sarah Sandiford, Head of Democratic 
and Central Services

Corporate Objective/s LLTC Three Year Plan – Aim 1: to consolidate 
processes and procedures, ensuring operational 
efficiency and a structure which will underpin future 
service delivery by the Town Council. 

Implications:
Financial √ No change to overall total of 

specified Central Services 
budget lines.
£756 additional cost for email 
licences.

Human Resources X
Operational/Service 
delivery

√ To ensure budgets are 
correctly allocated to maintain 
service provision. 

Procedural/Legal X
Risk/Health and Safety X

1. RECOMMENDATION/S

Should members be minded, the proposals are:

1.1 To note the report. 

1.2 To endorse the proposed budget reprofiling for a number of central 
services for 2019-2020, as outlined at 4.1 (total to remain unchanged at 
£39,500). 

1.3 To endorse an increase in the IT support budget by £756 from 2019-2020, 
to reflect the additional email licensing costs. 

Page 69

Agenda Item 12



 
2. BACKGROUND

2.1 To achieve economies of scale for central services across the Town Council, a 
number of centralised budget lines exist, within budget code 12 (Central 
Administration). 

2.2 These centralised budget lines include, amongst others, the following: IT 
support, website, printing, stationery, telephones and photocopying. 

2.3 In procuring goods and services, every effort is made to achieve the best 
possible value for money, whilst meeting or exceeding service requirements.  

2.4 In the last two years, contracts have been reviewed for telephones, mobile 
telephones and photocopiers. Following committee approval, changes in 
suppliers have resulted in savings in these operational areas. For example, for 
2018-19 there was a reduction in budget of £2,000/year for telephones which 
helped support an increase in IT support costs.

3. UPDATE

3.1 As the Committee is aware, during the last year approval was given for the 
purchase of Modern.gov meetings management software, as well as a change 
in websites support provider to ensure the required level of technical and 
content management support was in place. 

3.1 The budget allocated within the Five Year Financial Plan for IT Projects 
included provision for the first two years of licence fees for Modern.gov, as well 
as the purchase of associated equipment. It was anticipated that cost savings 
on printing, copying, postage and so on would offset licence costs in future 
years. 

3.2 The websites budget has been set at £1,000 per year for a number of years. 
However, over time, the demands on this budget have increased, with a 
recognition that an organisation’s website is often the primary source of 
information available to the public and that it is crucial that it is not only well 
maintained and kept up to date, but is also hosted securely and meets new data 
protection regulations regarding personal data. 

3.3 In addition, the Town Council has added to its profile new websites for the 
market and for Astral Park. With the main website and the TACTIC site, there 
are now four individual sites to be hosted, managed and maintained, bringing 
the current annual cost to £2,400. 

3.4 The Town Council is nearing the end of a two year IT support contract. Whilst 
quotes are yet to be sought, it is anticipated to be likely that costs will increase 
(proposals and budget implications to be brought to the November 
meeting). 

Page 70



 
3.5 Having reviewed the expenditure on the IT support budget in detail, it is 

anticipated that licence costs, which account for the majority of spend beyond 
the support contract, will also continue to rise and remain essential for day to 
day operations and service delivery. 

3.6 The resolution made by Council in April 2018 regarding the mandatory use of 
Town Council email addresses for all town councillors will increase the annual 
Outlook licence fee by £63/month or £756 annually. 

4. RECOMMENDATIONS

4.1 The Committee is asked to consider the below proposed re-profiling of budget 
lines for 2019-20. These take into account anticipated savings on lines such as 
photocopying and postage as a result of moving to paperless agendas.  These 
savings would contribute towards an increase in IT support and website support 
costs, as well as creating an initial fund towards licensing for Mod.gov software 
in year three. 

Budget line 2018-19 2019-20
IT support £15,500.00 £16,000.00
websites £1,000.00 £2,500.00
Telephones £8,000.00 £8,000.00
Post £3,500.00 £2,500.00
Photocopying £8,500.00 £5,000.00
Print & stationery £3,000.00 £2,500.00
Modern gov 0 £3,000.00
Total £39,500.00 £39,500.00

4.2 It is anticipated that once a full year of using Modern.gov has taken place and 
the full cost savings can be assessed, that a similar exercise will take place for 
the 2020-21 budget, whereby the £7,000 annual licence cost will be able to be 
met in that year and thereafter. 

4.3 In addition to the above re-profiling, it is recommended to increase the IT 
support budget by a further £756 to reflect the additional cost in email licences. 
This would bring the overall total for the seven budget lines above to £40,256.

5. CONCLUSIONS

5.1 It is clear that recent service reviews have resulted in economies of scale, 
reducing costs while maintaining or enhancing services. Further savings on 
consumables will occur as a result of the introduction of paperless meetings. 

5.2 The Committee is asked to endorse the proposed budget amendments as part 
of the 2019-2020 budget setting process.

End. 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 72



Policy and Finance Committee

Date:  17 September 2018

Title:  Standing Orders

Purpose of the Report: To consider forming a Task & Finish 
group to review potential amendments to 
Standing Orders, as a result of revised 
Model Standing Orders issued in April 
2018 by NALC.

Contact Officer: Sarah Sandiford, Head of Democratic 
and Central Services

Corporate Objective/s LLTC Three Year Plan – Aim 1: to consolidate 
processes and procedures, ensuring operational 
efficiency and a structure which will underpin future 
service delivery by the Town Council. 

Implications:
Financial X
Human Resources X
Operational/Service 
delivery

X

Procedural/Legal √ To ensure LLTC Standing Orders are correct, 
up to date with legislative requirements and fit 
for purpose. 

Risk/Health and Safety X

1. RECOMMENDATION/S

Should Members be minded, the proposals are:

1.1 To consider establishing a Task & Finish Group of no less than 4 
Councillors to review existing Standing Orders and the revised NALC 
model Standing Orders, with a view to recommendations being made to 
the Policy and Finance Committee at its meeting on 21 January 2019.   

Page 73

Agenda Item 13



 
2. BACKGROUND

2.1 Parish councils do not have a Constitution as such but are required to adopt 
and regularly review Standing Orders and Financial Regulations, which govern 
the operation of a council.

2.2 Standing Orders include a number of mandatory legislative requirements as 
well as regulations agreed by each individual council regarding conduct, 
meeting management, rules of debate, committees, substitutes, voting and 
other governance matters. 

2.3 The National Association of Local Councils (NALC) issues model Standing 
Orders for parish councils to use as a starting point. The model clearly denotes 
which rules are required by law and which may be subject to amendment by a 
council. 

2.4 Leighton-Linslade Town Council Standing Orders were adopted by Council in 
April 2013, with some minor amendments later adopted in January 2015. 

2.5 In line with best practice recommendations, the Town Council reviews its 
Standing Orders and Financial Regulations each year. No further amendments 
have been considered necessary since January 2015. 

2.6 In April 2018, NALC published revised model Standing Orders for parish 
councils. The new document includes mainly minor amendments but includes: 

2.6.1 incorporating the requirements of new legislation introduced since the 
publication of the previous model in 2013. 
2.6.2  encouraging corporate responsibilities in relation to the provision and 
management of information, including personal data.

3. REVIEW PROCESS

3.1 Historically, the Town Council has either formed a specific working group to 
review Standing Orders (last done in 2010) or has amended Terms of 
Reference for a relevant Committee/Sub-Committee to include authority to do 
this (last done in 2012, with the Honorary Burgess Sub Committee). 

3.2 Whilst officers can undertake the preliminary work of reviewing and comparing 
the model with the existing Standing Orders, councillors will wish to debate and 
consider the merits or otherwise of amending existing rules. 

3.3 It is therefore proposed that consideration be given to the formation of a Task 
and Finish group for the purpose of reviewing the 2018 NALC model and 
making recommendations back to the Policy and Finance Committee.  

3.4 The Committee is reminded that a Task and Finish group will be of less than 
six months’ duration and will comprise of no less than four councillors. 

Page 74



 

3.5 The proposed timeline for the review process is as follows:

October – November 2018 Task and Finish group to review Standing 
Orders (this may require one or two 
meetings).

21 January 2019 Recommendations put forward to the Policy 
and Finance Committee for consideration.

28 January 2019 Any recommendations for changes to 
Standing Orders to be put forward to Council. 
In accordance with SO 28b, proposed 
changes would when proposed and seconded 
stand adjourned without discussion until the 
next ordinary meeting of the Council. 

29 April 2019 Council to consider proposed 
recommendations. 

4. RECOMMENDATIONS

4.1 The Committee is asked to consider establishing a Task & Finish Group of no 
less than 4 Councillors to review existing Standing Orders and the revised 
NALC model Standing Orders, with a view to recommendations being made to 
the Policy and Finance Committee at its meeting on 21 January 2019.   

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 76



Policy and Finance Committee

Date:  17 September 2018

Title:  Community Engagement Strategy

Purpose of the Report: To consider approval of the revised 
Strategy document (attached). 

Contact Officer: Sarah Sandiford, Head of Democratic 
and Central Services

Corporate Objective/s LLTC Three Year Plan – Aim 1: to consolidate 
processes and procedures, ensuring operational 
efficiency and a structure which will underpin future 
service delivery by the Town Council. 

Implications:
Financial X
Human Resources
Operational/Service 
delivery
Procedural/Legal √ To ensure the Community 

Engagement Strategy is 
current and fit for purpose

Risk/Health and Safety

1. RECOMMENDATION/S

Should members be minded, the proposals are:

1.1 To endorse the revised Community Engagement Strategy. 

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 At its meeting on 26 February 2018, the Committee received a revised 
Community Engagement Strategy for consideration. This had been updated 
from the current document adopted in 2012, which was not reflective of the 
significant growth in digital communications in the intervening years.

2.2 In revising the Strategy, a number of Consultation and Community Engagement 
strategies for other councils were reviewed (both parish councils and local 
authorities).  The overarching themes had been incorporated into the new 
document to reflect best practice elsewhere within the local government sector.

Page 77

Agenda Item 13a



 
 
2.3 The revised Strategy sets out a range of ways in which the Town Council will 

communicate with the public and a range of guiding principles to be followed. 

2.4 As stated in the Strategy, it is not possible to formulate a prescriptive process 
or timescale for engagement, as each project/service will differ. The Town 
Council will consider timescales, costs and resources for each individual project 
or service in determining how best to engage with residents and stakeholders. 

2.5 At its meeting held on 26 January 2009, the Town Council resolved to adopt 
the principles of the Bedfordshire and Luton Compact, which sets out the ways 
in which the public sector and the voluntary and community sector will work 
together. These principles are included in the new draft Strategy.  

3. CONSIDERATIONS

3.1 An initial period of consultation took place on the draft Strategy from February-
May 2018. As reported to Committee on 18 June 2018, social media posts 
about the consultation reached 2,669 people with 82 engagements (clicks on 
picture or links, likes, shares and comments). Despite this, the formal response 
via the online questionnaire was extremely limited. 

3.2 The consultation has also been promoted via the “news” sections on the 
website and app and in the About Town community newsletter for May/June 
2018. 

3.3 On 18 June 2018, some minor amendments to the draft Strategy were 
endorsed by Committee and it was agreed to undertake a further period of 
consultation to allow a greater period of time for public engagement.

3.4 As of 15 August 2018, five scheduled social media posts have promoted the 
consultation, resulting in 52 clicks through to the consultation page of the 
website. The consultation page itself has had 1730 views in the period February 
– August 2018.

3.5 Despite the above, only a very small number of the brief 4-question surveys 
were completed. 

3.6 Of the responses received, 60% agreed that the revised document was more 
reflective of current best practice when compared to the existing Community 
Engagement Strategy. 

 
4 RECOMMENDATIONS

4.1 The Committee is asked to consider endorsement of the revised Community 
Engagement Strategy (attached).  

Page 78



[

Community 
Engagement 

Strategy 2018

Page 79



Page 80



Contents 

1.0 Introduction 

2.0 Aims, Visions and Objectives
 
3.0 Guiding Principles 

4.0 How do we communicate and engage? 

5.0 Outcomes and decision making

6.0 Other relevant documents 

Page 81



1.0 Introduction

Effective and meaningful community engagement is at the heart of the Government’s 
Localism agenda: driving towards provision of better services, a stronger public realm and 
more cohesive and sustainable communities. 

This strategy sets out an approach to the way in which the Town Council engages with the 
local community, enabling us to seek views from residents and stakeholders, to involve 
and work with partners, to deliver the vision for the parish of Leighton-Linslade both now 
and in future years. 

Community engagement is about giving local people a voice about matters which may 
affect them, their community and their neighbourhood. The Town Council will seek to 
promote a listening culture. 

2.0 Aims, Vision and Objectives

Aim

The ultimate aim for our communications is to ensure that residents, partners and 
stakeholders are kept well informed and have an opportunity to influence outcomes, by 
making their views known. By stakeholders, we mean everyone who has an interest in the 
parish.  

Vision

‘A community to be proud of’

Page 82



 Objectives

 To provide high quality services and promote a sense of wellbeing by making the 
right choices.

 To engage and consult with the community
 To raise the profile of Leighton-Linslade Town Council (LLTC), its facilities and 

services to maximise access to them
 To provide an opportunity for residents, community groups and other stakeholders 

to influence outcomes 
 To raise awareness and seek public support for the town council’s projects and 

initiatives
 To make ourselves easy to reach and talk to  - promote a listening culture
 To make people feel better informed and proud to live and work in Leighton-Linslade 
 To make sure parishioners know the outcome of the changes and decisions we make 

as a Council 
 To co-ordinate communications to ensure consistency in style and content of 

messages
 To build a strong perception of the council as a professional organisation
 To create and maintain a strong and consistent identity (brand) for the Council and 

its services
 To promote social wellbeing and a sense of community
 To support and promote local business development

Engagement

 To provide mechanisms for the local community to express views or ask questions
 To involve local voluntary and community groups and other stakeholders in the 

decision making process
 To seek to inform and educate
 To ensure information is easily accessible through a variety of media
 To seek to involve harder to reach groups within the community, for example young 

people
 To work in partnership with other public sector bodies on matters affecting the local 

community (e.g. Bedfordshire Police, Central Bedfordshire Council, Clinical 
Commissioning Group)

 To manage expectations
 To raise awareness

Page 83



3.0 Guiding Principles

In engaging, the Town Council will use the following guiding principles:

- Use of clear, concise and relevant language – avoiding use of jargon as much as 
possible

- Provide everyone with the opportunity to get involved, if they want to
- Be clear about what can realistically be achieved
- Promote a positive approach which is constructive and encourages involvement, but 

also demonstrates clear links between the activities and the benefits to the 
community

- Aim to provide feedback to residents to demonstrate the value of the engagement 
process

- Continue to explore new ways of involving all in the Council’s activities
- Wherever possible, engage stakeholders at an early stage in the process and allow 

sufficient time for responses to be formulated
- Aim to engage all sections of the community, including those which are usually harder 

to reach
- Consult with and involve relevant specialist or sector bodies, if appropriate

The Town Council has signed up to the Bedfordshire and Luton Compact, which sets out 
the core principles that the public sector and the voluntary and community sector share 
and demonstrates a commitment to those sectors working in partnership. The Compact 
principles are as follows:

Respect: differences between the public and the voluntary and community sectors are 
mutually understood, acknowledged and respected.

Honesty: open communication, transparency and integrity.

Independence: the independence of voluntary and community organisations in fulfilling 
their mission is recognised and supported. This includes their right within the law to 
campaign, to comment on and to challenge public sector policy.

Citizen empowerment: valuing a thriving civil society that is built around communities and 
people, meeting their needs and reflecting their choices. 

Volunteering: the energy and commitment of people giving their time for the public good 
contributes to a vibrant society and should be recognised and appreciated. 

Page 84



The Compact sets out the commitments on both sides in respect of advancing equality and 
diversity, involvement in policy development and allocating resources.

More information can be found at: www.bedsandlutoncompact.org.uk 

The Town Council is also mindful of the consultation principles published by the 
Government in 2018, based on the Gunning Principles:

 Consultations should be clear and concise

 Consultations should have a purpose

 Consultations should be informative

 Consultations are only part of a process of engagement

 Consultations should last for a proportionate amount of time

 Consultations should be targeted

 Consultations should take account of the groups being consulted

 Consultations should be collectively agreed before publication

 Consultation should facilitate scrutiny

 Responses to consultations should be published in a timely fashion

 Consultation exercises should not generally be launched during local or national 
election periods. 

Page 85

http://www.bedsandlutoncompact.org.uk/


4.0 How do we communicate and engage? 

Our commitment is to use a multi-channel approach to reach as many people and 
organisations as possible.  The communications mix is ever changing, with a clear channel 
shift towards online and digital methods and tools in recent years. 

The Council currently uses a wide range of communication channels which include:

Different target audiences have specific information and communication requirements. 
The Town Council will continue to use as broad a range of communications methods as is 
practicable in order to reach everyone.  
In determining which communications methods to use for which messages, the Town 
Council will consider factors such as target audience, financial cost, available resources 
and timescales.

Connecting with our audience  

In recognition of the changes in the way our society communicates, the Town Council has 
in recent years expanded its use of digital communication platforms. Digital media 
communications enable people to access information almost instantly and provide a 
mechanism to share information with others, submit queries or make comment. 

Page 86



Websites

In addition to its primary website (www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk), the Town Council 
also now manages and maintains four additional website domains:

 Astral Park Sports and Community Centre www.astralpark.co.uk
 TACTIC www.tactic.co.uk
 Leighton Buzzard Market www.leightonbuzzardmarket.co.uk 
 Leighton-Linslade in Bloom www.leighton-linsladeinbloom.co.uk

The websites provide a broad range of information on the services offered by the Town 
Council and includes a mechanism to submit queries or booking enquiries. The Town Council 
also publishes the agendas and minutes of all formal Council, Committee and Sub-
Committee meetings on its website.  From summer 2018, it will be possible to search 
agendas and minutes for key words.

Social Media

Social Media has become an integral part of the communications mix for the Town Council. 
A number of pages and profiles across Facebook, Twitter, Instagram and YouTube enable 
connection to different elements of the services we provide. In addition to raising 
awareness, providing information, promoting events and seeking feedback, social media 
also provides us with a mechanism to help share messages from partners and other 
stakeholders, which may be of interest to the community.  
Taking a step further in the arena of digital communications, the Town Council launched 
its app in June 2017, in recognition of the increasing number of people accessing 
information via the internet on hand held devices. 

Publications 

About Town is our bi-monthly newsletter which is produced in-house. 2000 copies are 
currently printed and distributed around the town in the major supermarkets, the library 
and the train station. We also distribute the newsletter digitally via email and will 
continue to encourage everyone to sign up for this service via our website.  

The Three year plan and Objectives provides an overview of what we as a Council are 
responsible for and outlines our corporate objectives for the upcoming three years. 

The Annual Report is published in June each year. This publication provides details of 
Town Council projects completed during the year and provides update on corporate 
objectives. 

Page 87

http://www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk/
http://www.astralpark.co.uk/
http://www.tactic.co.uk/
http://www.leightonbuzzardmarket.co.uk/
http://www.leighton-linsladeinbloom.co.uk/


A What’s on Guide is created and released before the end of March each year. This 
publication showcases all of the Town Council’s upcoming events and projects. Long 
standing larger events organised by outside parties are also included. 

The Official Town Guide is created and published bi-annually by Local Authority 
Publishing, funded by business adverts within the publication. The guide also contains a 
map of the town.

Press 

The Town Council will use local press (newspaper, radio) as appropriate communication 
with the community. In many cases this information is also disseminated on the internet 
by the relevant organisation. 
Paid for press advertising will only be used when sufficient budget is available. 

Consultations, Exhibitions and Surveys 

There may be occasions when the Town Council wishes to consult with a specific section 
of the community – for example on proposals for an area in their neighbourhood – or to 
consult with the wider population – for example on corporate objectives for the town as 
a whole. The Council will seek to publish information and invite comment in as many 
forums as possible, depending on budget, resources and timescales. This may combine 
traditional methods (posting letters through doors, using noticeboards) with digital media 
(website, app and social media). Should time and resources permit, activities may also 
include face to face or telephone surveys, or open events/exhibitions. 

Often there is no statutory duty to consult, but the Town Council will endeavour to do so, 
where deemed appropriate, on matters for which it is directly responsible. 

Meetings

All formal meetings of the Town Council, its Committees or its Sub-Committees are open 
to the public and include a public forum to ask questions or make comments on items 
included on the meeting agenda.  Meeting dates, agendas and minutes are all published 
on the Town Council website, as are guidance notes for people wishing to attend a 
meeting. We welcome participation at meetings by residents, groups and partners.

Page 88



The Annual Parish Meeting, called in accordance with legislation by the Town Mayor each 
March, provides a forum for any member of the public to ask any question of the Town 
Council. The format of the Parish Meeting will normally include a brief presentation and 
then an open forum for questions. 

Noticeboards

The Town Council recognises that despite the huge increase in digital engagement, there 
is still a place for the community noticeboard. The Council maintains several noticeboards 
located within the town centre and across the parish.  Space is limited but the Council will 
endeavour to publish key information and also aims to support local charity, voluntary and 
community organisations by putting up their notices when space and resources permit. 

5.0 Outcomes and Decision Making

Increased levels of consultation and engagement invariably lead to raised public expectations.  
Consultation rarely results in single opinion and may not always generate clear or conclusive 
results; nor is it synonymous with consensus.  Understanding the views of local residents and 
stakeholders is important and will help inform and improve the decision making process, and 
help strengthen involvement in civic life. However, it cannot be a substitute for the 
democratic process.

Elected Members of the Council, along with senior officers, will need to weigh the views and 
opinions expressed through consultation against a wide range of other factors such as 
legislation, government or sector guidance, demographic data, economic factors, 
environmental and social impact for example. 

Unless delegated to the Town Clerk, decisions must be made by Council or a duly authorised 
Committee. Decisions are always made by majority vote, following a full appraisal of the facts 
in order to make balanced and appropriate decisions. In making decisions, the Council must 
weigh up a number of factors, including not only the aspirations and wishes of the current 
population but also future generations.  The Council must also consider the needs of the 
Parish as a whole when making decisions, not just reflect the wishes of a minority, which may 
conflict with the needs of the Parish as a whole. 

For these reasons, it is important to be aware that the final decisions made by the Council 
may not always reflect some of those views expressed during community engagement and 
consultation. 

Decisions made by the Town Council are final and may only be reversed in exceptional 
circumstances, in accordance with Standing Orders. 

Page 89



6.0 Other Relevant Documents 

The following documents may provide further useful information in addition to that outlined 
within this Strategy: 

1. Social Media Policy
2. Publication Scheme
3. Freedom of Information Policy
4. Town Council Standing Orders
5. Town Council Financial Regulations  

Page 90



www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk

E: info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk

T: 01525 631920
Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 92



Document is Restricted

Page 93

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 95

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 99

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 103

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
	5 COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORK PLAN
	6 RECOMMENDATIONS
	6 (ii) Unauthorised encampment policy

	7 JULY PAYMENTS
	8 COMMUNICATIONS UPDATE
	Updates

	9 RISK REGISTER ACTION PLAN UPDATE
	12 CENTRAL SERVICES BUDGETS
	13 STANDING ORDERS
	13a COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT STRATEGY
	Community Engagement Strategy DRAFT v2 June 2018

	15 TELECOMMS PROVIDER
	16 PROFESSIONAL FEES
	Appendix A - Professional Fees
	CONFIDENTIAL Devonshires email


